1972

## **Shirley J. Cragun, Aka Mrs. Ronald N. Cragun v. The Bankers Life Company, Des Moines, Iowa : Appellant's Brief**

### NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff is the beneficiary under life insurance Policy No. 2401522 issued April 1, 1970 and delivered by defendant to plaintiff's husband, Ronald N. Cragun in his lifetime, and this action is to recover \$10,000.00, the amount of the Policy, Ex. P-1, plus interest from the date of his death, June 22, 1970.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiff moved the Court to enter judgment on her behalf in the amount of \$10,000.00, plus interest. Defendant moved for Summary Judgment.

The Court heard oral arguments on October 19, 1971 and admitted in evidence plaintiff's Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5. On November 19, 1971, the Court entered an Order granting Summary Judgment in favor of defendant and denied plaintiff's motion for Summary Judgment.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the Order granting Summary Judgment in favor of Defendant and reversal of the denial of plaintiff's motion for Judgment, with this case remanded with directions for the Lower Court to enter Judgment for Appellant in the amount of \$10,000.00 together with interest from June 22, 1970, the date of death, or, in the alternative remand the case with directions that the case be tried on the merits.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ronald N. Cragun was an Agent, R86, for defendant in 1968, 1969 and until his death by heart attack, R20, on June 22, 1970.

He had life insurance coverage with defendant under a, R45, group life insurance policy — certificate, from 1966, R54, until defendant terminated, R55, that policy coverage, R61, as of February 28, 1970. Ronald exercised his conversion, R53, privilege in that group life policy, wrote, R43, to defendant for life insurance and paid the \$24.73 semi-annual premium by his check dated 16 March 1970, Ex. P-2.

On or before 16 March 1970 the Company *assigned* Policy No. 2401522 to Ronald, as the Policy No. *appears* on Ex. P-2 and Ex. P-5 which is the bank microfilm copy of that check.

Ronald submitted his application, R44, dated March 30, 1970 to defendant for the \$10,000.00 life insurance and paid the balance of the premium, Ex. P-3 and R25. Defendant *accepted* and *modified*, R44, his application at its Home Office, R44, and *issued* and *delivered* the \$10,000.00 life insurance policy to Ronald, dated April 1, 1970, Ex. P-1. The Policy, Ex. P-1, provides for payment to the beneficiary at the insured's death.

The policy was in full force and effect with premiums fully paid, R25, covering Ronald when he died on June 22, 1970 from a heart attack, R20.

After his death, plaintiff *delivered*, R19, the policy to defendant and requested the \$10,000.00 but defendant refused and failed to pay plaintiff the \$10,000.00 and refused, R34, to return the policy to her. Plaintiff brought this action, R15, against defendant for recovery of the \$10,000.00 under the terms of the policy and for tortious, R18, conversion of the policy from plaintiff.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED TO PLAINTIFF FOR \$10,000.00, THE AMOUNT OF THE POLICY, PLUS INTEREST FROM THE DATE OF DEATH, OR THE CASE TRIED ON THE MERITS.



Ronald N. Cragun, an Agent, R84 and 86, for defendant, applied, R33, to defendant and paid, R25, Ex. P-2 and P-3, for \$10,000.00 of life insurance; and he *agreed* on his application, R33, that the Company was authorized to *modify* his application and *issue* and *deliver* a policy to him. Defendant *modified*, R33, the application and *issued* and *delivered* to Ronald the \$10,000.00 life insurance policy No. 2401522, dated April 1, 1970. The policy was in his possession and in full force and effect when he died June 22, 1970.

The Utah Supreme Court should *reverse* and *remand* with directions for the lower court to enter judgment for plaintiff in the amount of \$10,000.00 together with interest from the date of death.

Dr. Prince, in his lifetime, had no notice of any rejection and no return of his premiums paid and he had no inclination that he was not insured, and the Utah Supreme Court in *Prince vs. Western Empire Life Insurance Company*, 19 U2d 174, 428 P2d 163, reversed and remanded that case with *directions* for the lower court to enter judgment for Marian G. Prince, plaintiff-appellant-beneficiary, in the amount of \$50,000.00, together with interest from the date of Dr. Prince's death. In *Christensen vs. Farmers Insurance Exchange*, 443 P2d 385, 21 U2d 194, the Court stated,

"In interpreting an insurance policy, courts have uniformly resolved ambiguities, if any there be, in a policy strictly against the insurer and in favor of the insured. *Browning vs. Equitable*, 94 Utah 532, 72 P2d 1060; *Jorgensen vs. Hartford Insurance Co.*, 13 U2d 303, 373 P2nd 580".

“We are of the opinion that the court was in error in granting a summary judgment to the respondent”.

The court went on to state that when there are no issues of fact to be determined and the only dispute involves a question of law, we think that the Supreme Court has the *duty* and the *power*, when a matter is before it, to direct the lower court to enter a judgment according to the law of the case. The court remanded this case to the trial court with *directions* to set aside the summary judgment granted to the insurance company and to enter a summary judgment in favor of the plaintiff-appellants “declaring the defendant’s policy affords coverage to the automobile driven by Christensen and that such coverage is primary”.

Defendant alleges in its Amended Answer, R30, misrepresentation, inequitable conduct of decedent and/or mutual mistake. This is defendant’s smoke screen attempt to hide from plaintiff the benefits of the \$10,000.00 life insurance policy. The Utah Supreme Court *dissolved* that smoke screen attempt in *Wootton vs. Combined Insurance Co. of America*, 16 U2d 52, 395 P2d 724, where it affirmed a summary judgment for the plaintiff and stated that unless the misrepresentations in the negotiation for an insurance policy are made with the intent to deceive and *materially* affected *either* the *acceptance of the risk* or the *hazard assumed* by the insurer, the insurance contract cannot be avoided by an insurance company, citing Utah Code Section 31-19-8, and “mere falsity of answers

to questions propounded are insufficient if not knowingly made with intent to deceive and defraud". Also,

"Appellant had sufficient knowledge of the physical disability of respondent's husband to ascertain all the facts it needed as to its extent, if it had deemed it important, by either asking further questions or conducting an investigation; and it cannot blind itself from ascertaining the truth and then claim willful misrepresentation of the truth on which it relied in order to avoid payment under a policy". \* \* \* "From the pleadings, affidavit and depositions, it is apparent respondent is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law".

In the present case, the insurance company had sufficient knowledge about its agent-applicant-insured because it had covered Ronald since 1966 under its group life insurance policy, R54. Also the insurance company *assigned*, Ex. P-2 and P-5, the present *policy No. 2401522* to Ronald, their agent, on or before March 16, 1970, and before defendant *issued* and *delivered* the policy to Ronald.

The defendant *intended to* and *did insure* Ronald for \$10,000.00 under the policy and should pay plaintiff.

In *State Farm Automobile Insurance Company vs. Wood*, 483 P2d 892, the Utah Supreme Court stated that the insurance company *owed a duty* to the insured "as well as to the public to make a reasonable investigation of the insurability" of applicant within a reasonable time after accepting his application for a liability policy and that,

"An insurer cannot neglect its duty to make a reasonable investigation of insurability or postpone that investigation until after it learns of a probable claim and still retain its right to rescind. To permit an insurer to avoid its duty to make a reasonable investigation within a reasonable time would permit it to retain the premiums and avoid all risk under the policy".

Defendant issued and delivered the \$10,000.00 life insurance policy and the policy was in full force and effect when Ronald died. Therefore, defendant is liable on the policy and should pay the \$10,000.00 benefits, plus interest, to plaintiff.

It is *too late* for the defendant to allege fraud, misrepresentation, error or mistake. Such allegations are not material to the *risk*. In *Pritchett vs. Equitable Life & Casualty Ins. Co.*, 18 U2d 279, 421 P2d 943, "the court concluded that the concealments complained of were not material to the risk assumed by the appellant."

"The general judicial attitude toward insurance policies is to sustain them on grounds of public policy whenever possible," *Ross vs. Producer's Mutual Insurance Co.*, 4 U2d 396, 295 P2d 339. Also, the court stated that it is apparent that the Utah Legislature *intended* to make contracts of insurance *valid* wherever possible. Every insurance contract shall be construed in the entirety, including the application, Utah Code 31-19-36.

Defendant knew the *risk* and assumed the *risk*, R44, of insuring their 38 year old agent and has *waived* the

right to deny the claim and liability and is *precluded* and *estopped* from denying payment. Equity and justice require that payment in full be made to the plaintiff, plus interest.

Utah follows the *liberal* construction of the *rules* as outlined in Volume 13, Appleman, Insurance Law & Practice;

Section 7401. "It has been almost the unanimous holding of all courts that insurance contracts must be liberally construed in favor of a policy holder or beneficiary thereof, wherever possible, and strictly construed against the insurer in order to afford the protection which the insured was endeavoring to secure when he applied for the insurance. The courts have felt that the language of insurance policies is selected by one of the parties alone, and the language employed by that party should be construed against it".

Also, from Section 7401 it is stated that the courts will *protect the insured* when the policy conveys one meaning to lawyers and another to the laymen. Appleman also cites the case of *Browning vs. Equitable Life Assurance Society*, 94 Utah 532, 72 P2d 1060, where the court stated,

"Insurance policies, while in the nature of written contracts, are not prepared after negotiations between the parties, to embrace the terms at which the parties have arrived in their negotiations. They are prepared beforehand by the insurer, and the company solicitors then sell the insurance idea to the applicant. Normally, the details and provisions of the policy are not discussed except that the particular form of policy is best

sued to give the applicant the protection he seeks. If he reads the policy he is generally not in a position to understand its details, terms, and meaning except that, in the event against which he seeks insurance, the company will pay the stipulated sums. He seldom sees the policy until it has been issued and is delivered to him. He signs an application blank in which the policy sought is described either by Form number or by a general designation, pays his premium, and in due course, thereafter, receives, either from the agent or through the mails, his policy. Many of its terms and all of its defenses and super refinements he has never heard of and would not understand them if he read them”.

Appleman, Section 7582, states the *general rule* is that the application becomes a part of the agreement between the parties and that the policy and application, taken together, constitute the contract of insurance. The doctrine has, therefore, been laid down that the application and policy should be read and construed together in order to ascertain the *intention* of the parties. “If the provisions of the policy and application are not ambiguous or inconsistent, the court cannot extend them by construction”, Section 7583. “Where the application becomes a part of the contract of insurance, the *insurer is bound by the application* to the same extent and with like effect as the *insured by the policy*”, Section 7584. The insurance company was under no obligation to accept the application for insurance, but having done so was *bound* by what appeared in the application, *Metropolitan Insurance Company of New York vs. Munford*, 126 SW2d 282.

Appleman, Volume 13, Section 7585,

“A beneficial association, in resisting payment of a death claim, cannot rely on part of the answers made by the decedent in the application for membership and ignore his answers to other questions, but the answers must be taken as a whole in determining their truth or falsity. Similarly, in construing statements in an application, the interrogatories and answers must be construed together.”

“The same rule of construing an insurance policy or bond strongly against the insurer and favorably to the insured applies to an application, or matters contained therein, as to the policy itself, the instrument having been prepared by the insurer. The insurance company is also under a duty to frame questions in the application so that they will be free from misleading interpretations. When it has failed to do so and ambiguity or doubt arises, questions and answers thereto will be construed most favorably to the insured.”

The insured also receives the benefits of this *rule* where there is a conflict between statements in the application and in the policy, Section 7585.

From Appleman, Volume 13, Section 7601, we find that when an insurance contract has been completely executed, it is capable of modification only by an agreement in writing or an executed oral contract; and “After the rights of the insured and insurer have been fixed by written contract, subsequent letters or notices have been held ineffective to change or alter the contract, and cannot affect the rights of the parties under the contract”.

Defendant *modified*, Ex. P-1 and R33, the application and *issued* and *delivered* the policy to Ronald. Defendant is not entitled to a summary judgment. Defendant should pay \$10,000.00, the face amount of the policy, to plaintiff, plus interest.

The terms of the application, Ex. P-1, and policy, P-1, are plain on their face and there are no doubts or uncertainties as to the *meaning* or affect of the application-policy and defendant is liable for the face amount of the policy to plaintiff. "Any doubts or uncertainties as to the meaning or affect of the policy must be construed so as to resolve said doubts or uncertainties against the defendant who prepared the contract", *Stout vs. Washington Fire & Marine Insurance Co.*, 14 U2d 414, 385 P2d 608, and see the numerous Utah cases cited in West Pacific Digest, Volume 21A p. 148. The California case *Crane vs. State Farm Fire & Casualty Company*, 485 P2d 1129 states the general *rules* as follows: Any ambiguity or uncertainty in an insurance policy is to be resolved against the insurer; and the contract will be given such construction as will fairly achieve its manifest *object* of securing indemnity to the insured for the losses to which the insurance relates; and any reasonable doubt as to uncertain language will be resolved against the insurer whether that *doubt* relates to the peril insured against *or other relevant matters*; and the policy should be read as a *layman* would read it and not as it might be analyzed by an attorney or an insurance expert.

The defendant insurance company refused to pay benefits to the plaintiff and alleged misrepresentations in



*applying* for insurance in the case of *Ruth Marks vs. Continental Casualty Co.*, 19 U2d 119, 427 P2d 387, however, the Utah Supreme Court stated that where this whole transaction was carried on through the *mails*, it presents a situation from which the trial court could reasonably believe that the plaintiff *did not intend* to deceive the company. In the present case it appears that some or all of the transactions were carried on through the *mail*, and there is *no intent* to deceive or defraud the insurance company according to the application-policy. Defendant *knew* its agent Ronald and *intended* to insure him and *assume* the \$10,000.00 life insurance *risk*.

Judgment should be entered here for the plaintiff in the amount of \$10,000.00 as was similarly entered in *Walker vs. Occidental Life Insurance Co.*, 432 P2d 741, as that court said the privilege of *converting* the policy is a valuable property right, and that the company's *duty*, under the group life insurance-certificate was to issue a policy, *upon application*, in the amount sought; and that trial court was *directed* to enter judgment for plaintiff in the amount of \$10,000.00, being the amount of insurance *applied for*.

In *Peterson vs. Continental Casualty Company*, 483 P2d 445, 25 U2d 408, the court affirmed the lower court in holding that the farmer was a "pedestrian" on his farm and his death was covered by the terms of the policy. Here, and with stronger reason, Ronald was covered by the policy and plaintiff is entitled to judgment of \$10,000.00 plus interest.

## POINT II

### THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR DEFENDANT SHOULD BE REVERSED.

In *Holbrook vs. Webster's, Inc.*, 320 P2d 661, 7 U2d 148, the court stated that the plaintiff was granted summary judgment in spite of defendant's affidavit, since defendant *could not vary the terms* of the written release by parole evidence. In the present case, defendant cannot vary the terms of the insurance policy that it *issued* to Ronald. The answers by Ronald in his application, Ex. P-1, was information *known* to defendant. Defendant *had* all this information as it had insured Ronald in a group life policy *since 1966*.

If there is the "slightest doubt" as to the facts, a motion for summary judgment should be denied, *Shafter vs. Reo Motors, Inc.*, 205 F2d 685. Summary judgment should be denied if conflicting inferences could be drawn from the evidence, or if reasonable men might reach different conclusions on the basis of the evidence introduced, Barron and Holtzoff, Section 1234, and the cases cited therein; also, one who moves for summary judgment has the *burden* of proving clearly that there is no issue of fact, Section 1235 and cases cited therein. A summary judgment is supported by evidence, admissions and inferences which when viewed in the light most favorable to the loser, show that "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law," *Bullock vs. Deseret Dodge Truck Center, Inc.*, 354 P2d 559, Utah 1960 case. In determining the sufficiency of such a showing, the Court

must “view the evidence and inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the party against whom such judgment is sought”; “so unless there is a showing that the disfavored parties cannot produce evidence which would reasonably support a finding in their favor on a material or determinative issue of fact, a summary judgment is erroneous”, *Bridge vs. Backman, Reversed*, 353 P2d 909, 10 U2d 366. In *Greenbalab vs. Green*, 16 U2d 221, 398 P2d 691, the court stated, “This court is well aware that a summary judgment cannot be given if there exists a genuine issue of fact”.

The affidavits in the present case by defendant in order to prove or disprove the existence of a genuine issue of material fact, must contain statements which would be admissible in evidence, therefore, parole testimony and/or affidavits in trying to vary the terms of the insurance policy, will not support a motion for summary judgment in favor of the defendant, *Wier vs. Texas Co.*, 79 F. Supp. 299. Heresay statements contained in defendant’s affidavit cannot be considered, *Dyer vs. Macdougall*, 201 F2d 265.

Utah Rule 56(e) states that affidavits “shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify in the matters stated therein”. The affidavit must be based upon the underlying personal knowledge of the affiant, and the affidavit based upon belief is insufficient, *Zampos vs. U.S. Melting, Refining & Mining Co.*, 206 F2d 171, 10th Cir. 1953. In *Hatch vs. Sugarhouse Finance Co.*, 20 U2d 156, 434 P2d 758, the court stated,

“We are of the opinion that there was an issue of fact raised by the pleadings and the counter affidavit of the defendant in opposition to the plaintiff’s motion for a summary judgment, and that the defendant is entitled to have his day in court in respect to the quantity and the reasonable value of the services rendered by the plaintiff. Rule 56 URCP should not be used where there are issues of fact in dispute.”

“The judgment of the court below is reversed and the matter is remanded for a trial upon the merits.”

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