1972

Shirley J. Cragun, Aka Mrs. Ronald N. Cragun v. The Bankers Life Company, Des Moines, Iowa : Respondent's Brief

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff brought action as beneficiary of a special whole life insurance policy issued in response to a claimed conversion privilege in a group insurance plan. Defendant refused payment and tendered return of the premium based upon non-eligibility of alleged insured and misrepresentation and mistake.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiff moved the Court to enter judgment on her behalf in the amount of \$10,000.00, plus interest. Defendant moved for Summary Judgment.

The Court heard oral arguments on October 19, 1971 and admitted in evidence plaintiff's Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, and

5. On November 19, 1971, the Court entered an Order granting Summary Judgment in favor of defendant and denied plaintiff's motion for Summary Judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmation of the District Court's Summary Judgment in favor of defendant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about December 1, 1964, defendant issued its Group Life Insurance Policy No. 5376 (hereinafter called "Group Policy") to the Trustees of Music Operators of America (hereinafter called MOA). Norman W. Cragun, doing business as Cragun Music Company, was a member of MOA by reason of a small coin operated record player business which he operated out of his home in Ogden, Utah. He qualified as an "employer member" within the provisions of the said Group Policy. (R. 41, 45, and 65). On or about March 22, 1966, Ronald N. Cragun, son of Norman W. Cragun, applied for life insurance coverage under the group policy and represented himself to be an employee of Cragun Music Company (R. 41, 54, and 66). Pursuant to that application the defendant issued to Ronald N. Cragun a certificate of insurance under the Group Policy which certificate was in a form admitted by the plaintiff and hereinafter referred to as Certificate No. 185-2. (R. 42, 58-60, and 66).

The Group Policy and the Certificate No. 185-2 provided for life insurance for "actively employed employees of employer members" in the amount of \$5,000.00.

Defendant sent Ronald N. Cragun a notice of termination of the entire Group Policy effective February 28, 1970. (R. 42, 61 and 66). On March 16, 1970, Ronald N. Cragun returned his certificate No. 185-2 to the defendant and requested "conversion to a Special Ordinary Life Insurance Policy in the amount of \$2,000.00." (R. 41, 43, and 65). He also therein represented that he had terminated his connection with Cragun Music Company on the last day of February, 1970. On or about March 30, 1970, Ronald N. Cragun submitted an application for conversion to ordinary life in the amount of \$10,000.00. (R. 41, 44 and 65). In said application Ronald N. Cragun represented that the amount of his terminated life insurance was \$10,000.00. His father, Norman W. Cragun, signed as "Employer" and the employer's portion of the application stated that Ronald N. Cragun had last worked on February 28, 1970 and that the amount of insurance in force under this plan on Ronald on date of termination was \$15,000.00. This application was attached to the policy issued and upon which plaintiff bases her claim.

Deposition of Norman W. Cragun taken March 4, 1971, discloses the following: In his private capacity he did business as Cragun Music Company. (P. 3) As such he didn't keep a set of books, he had no checking account and no payroll. (P. 4) He had about ten machines all located in the Ogden area and would do his own repairs, collect the moneys and change the records. (P. 6) Ronald N. Cragun was his son and when needed would assist the father in repairing the machines if asked or when he was at the father's home, provided Ronald was free at the time. (P. 7) Ronald's help was gratis so that if the father needed him

he would ask Ronald for his help. (P. 9) If the father ever gave Ronald money it was because he was his son, not by way of payment for services. (P. 11) This same relationship persisted from 1964 until June of 1970 when Ronald died. (P. 12 ,13, and 17) Norman W. Cragun worked at Hill Field Air Force Base from 1966 on and operated Cragun Music Company on the side. (P. 7 and 14) Ronald never advised the father that he was ending the relationship nor did the father ever so advise Ronald. As far as the father was concerned the relationship that persisted throughout 1969 continued up to the date of Ronald's death. (P. 17) The relationship was the same whether the month was January, February or March of 1970. If Ronald was an employee of Cragun Music Company in January 1970, he was likewise an employee in March and April of 1970 because the relationship remained always the same. There was not a bit of change. The son never advised the father that he was going to withhold his services from Cragun Music Company at any time during 1970. Until he became ill in June of 1970 Ronald responded as his father had need. (P. 18 and 19) The father's tax return made no reference to any payment made to Ronald, he reported no expense attributed to payroll and never had a withholding statement for Ronald.

Deposition of Norman W. Cragun taken May 5, 1970
discloses the following: During the first six months of 1970 he put in about 16 hours per week in the operation of Cragun Music Company besides working a forty-hour week at Hill Field. (P. 3) This was substantially the situation throughout the year of 1969. During 1969 and the first half of 1970 the largest portion of the work of Cragun Music

Company was done by him. (P. 4)

During the first half of 1970 from January through the time of Ronald's death, the amount of work Ronald would put in during the week for Cragun Music Company would vary anywhere from zero hours per week to as many as twelve hours per week. (P. 7) The father doesn't recall any weeks during the first half of 1970 that Ronald would have put in more than twelve hours per week. (P. 8)

Deposition of the plaintiff taken March 4, 1971, disclosed the following: Ronald N. Cragun worked as a full time insurance salesman for Prudential Insurance Company prior to 1960. (P. 16) He worked as a full time salesman for Blue Cross Insurance Company for about seven years ending in 1965 or 1966. (P. 5) Since leaving Blue Cross and until the time of his death his full time employment had been as district manager of the life insurance department of Safeco Insurance Company. (P. 6, 8, and 10) Plaintiff first noted Ronald's health was deteriorating about the end of May or the first part of June 1970. (P. 12) His health appeared to be good in January and February and remained so right up until the end of May. (P. 13) She noticed no change in his working or employment status or work habits including his evening work from January 1970 until the latter part of May or the first part of June. (P. 14)

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

The case now before this Court primarily involves a group, rather than an individual, insurance policy. Since group insurance provides coverage for an often large and

fluctuating class of persons, rather than for the single insured, since the individual class member is rarely personally enrolled or contacted by the insurer, and since membership in the class is almost always a required condition of group insurance, coverage issues in group insurance cases raise unique questions of law peculiar to group insurance situations. As a result, such questions are perhaps best considered within the special framework of group insurance law. In such cases, the more persuasive authorities may be those addressing themselves specifically to group insurance fact situations. It should be noted that the Utah Code contains a specific chapter (Section 31-23-1 et seq.) on group life insurance policies, which chapter is separate and distinct from the regular insurance provisions of the Code, and Section 31-23-15 of that chapter specifically deals with conversion rights on termination of eligibility.

Respondent's basic theory is, that the individual life insurance policy which decedent sought to obtain was governed by the eligibility and conversion provisions of the group policy. Since the decedent was not eligible for membership in the group policy and since he was not eligible to be insured in the group or to convert that policy, he was never entitled to obtain the individual policy and that policy is void and subject to rescission by defendant-respondent.

The threshold question would seem to be whether the terms of the group contract continued into the individual policy decedent obtained, or at least, whether the terms of the prior contract governed decedent's ability to receive the later policy. This court has held that a reinstated insurance policy is a continuation of the original, rather than a separate, new agreement. *Burnham v. Bankers Life & Casualty*

Co., 24 Utah 2d 277, 470 P.2d 261 (1970). In the *Dunken* case cited below the United States Supreme Court held that a policy issued pursuant to the conversion provisions of an earlier policy is governed by the terms of the prior contract.

In *Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. Dunken*, 266 U. S. 389 (1924), the insurer issued an insured a term life insurance policy which pursuant to its conversion option was converted into a life policy by the insured. The prior policy was cancelled and a new policy bearing a new number was issued. The insured received the policy but did not pay the premiums. Shortly thereafter he died. The insurer claimed the second policy never became binding and that it was separate and distinct from the earlier policy. The Supreme Court disagreed, holding and citing with approval a New York case for the proposition that, the later policy was not an independent contract, but rather a continuation of the original. *Id.* at 395. With respect to the case before it the Court noted:

The second policy here was issued in pursuance of, and was dependent for its existence and its terms upon, the express provisions of the contract contained in the first one. By those provisions, upon the simple application of the insured, the new policy must issue. Nothing was left to future agreement. The terms of the new policy were fixed when the original policy was made. . . . It was issued not as the result of any new negotiation or agreement, but in discharge of pre-existing obligations. It merely fulfilled promises then outstanding, and did not arise from new or additional promises. *Id.* at 399-400

And in *Burr v. Equitable Life Insurance Co.*, 84 F.2d

781 (9th Cir. 1936), the Circuit Court of Appeals held that a term policy, an application for that policy, and a converted policy for ordinary life insurance all constituted a single policy of insurance.

In clear and unambiguous terms the Group Policy relevant to this action extended its coverage to "actively employed employees of insured employer members."

Section 1 of the Group Policy provided:

The term "actively employed" means employment in the Phonographic Music Machines or other coin operated equipment industry for 15 hours or more per week.

The terms "active work" and "actively at work," as used in this Policy with respect to any Person, mean active full-time performance of all customary duties of his occupation (for a period of at least fifteen hours per week) at his usual place of employment. (R. 46)

Section 16 of the group policy provided:

Any person within thirty-one days after

(a) the date his life insurance under this Policy is terminated because of termination of employment or of membership in a class or classes eligible for such insurance under this Policy; or

(b) the date this Policy is terminated, or is amended to exclude the classification of Persons to which he belongs, if he has been so insured continuously for at least five years immediately prior thereto; or

(c) the date his life insurance under Schedule No. 1 under this Policy is reduced by reason of an increase in age;

Shall be entitled to have issued to him, without evidence of insurability, an individual policy of life insurance without disability or other supplementary benefits provided written application therefor and payment of the first premium thereon is made to the Company within said thirty-one days. Any such individual policy issued shall become effective on the thirty-second day following the applicable date specified in (a), (b) or (c) above.

If the insurance is terminated as outlined in (a) above, the Person shall have the right to convert the amount of life insurance in force on his life as of the date of such termination, less any amount of insurance in force on his life pursuant to an application for an individual policy previously made in accordance with these provisions.

If the insurance is terminated as outlined in (b) above, the Person shall have the right to convert the smaller of

(a) the amount of life insurance in force on his life as of the date of such termination, less any amount for which he is or becomes eligible under any group life insurance policy issued or reissued by the Company or any other insurance carrier within thirty-one days after such termination date; and

(b) \$2,000.00. (R-53).

The evidence is clear that the decedent's employment did not terminate on February 28, 1970. The decedent's father and alleged employer stated that decedent didn't ever tell him he was terminating his employment and that until June of 1970 decedent helped him with the same frequency that he always had. (Norman Cragun Dep. 3/4/71, p. 19. See also Norman Cragun Dep. 5/5/71, p. 7.) The plaintiff, decedent's wife, also testified that she noticed no

change in decedent's working status or habits from January of 1970 until late May of 1970. (Shirley Jean Cragun Dep., p. 13-14).

From the foregoing it is evident that decedent did not terminate his employment on February 28, 1970, and therefore had no right to convert pursuant to Section 16(a) of the policy.

It will be recalled that conversion rights under the group policy had to be exercised within thirty-one days after employment terminated. Since there is no evidence that decedent terminated his employment prior to his death (if he ever was "employed" by his father), the record is bereft of any termination date and therefore there is no evidence which would permit plaintiff to rely on the provisions of Section 16(a) of the group policy.

The provisions in Section 16(b) are rather complex, but not ambiguous. They provide that if the group policy is terminated *and if the decedent had been continuously insured for five years* prior to the time the group policy was terminated, decedent could convert the lesser of \$2,000.00 or the amount of insurance under the group policy less the amount he became eligible for under another group policy.

Decedent first applied for membership in the group policy on or about March 22, 1966. (R-54). The application was not accepted until May 1, 1966. (*Id.*) The group policy's date of termination was February 28, 1970. (R-61). It is patent from the foregoing that even if decedent were actively employed by his father from the time decedent's coverage commenced until the termination date of the pol-

icy, he would not have been continuously insured for the requisite five year period. As a result, he was not entitled to convert to an individual insurance policy and the policy issued him was void.

Finally, Section 16 only confers a conversion right to "persons." A "person" is described in the group policy as one "actively employed." (R-46). The minimum 15 hour work week requirement for one to be "actively employed" has already been mentioned. If decedent did not work for his father sufficiently to become an active employee, he had no right to convert, and, indeed, no right at all to coverage under the group policy.

There is no suggestion whatever in the record that decedent ever worked fifteen hours per week for his father during the year of 1970. His father testified that during the first half of 1970, from January until the decedent's death, the decedent's work hours for his father would vary from zero to twelve hours per week. (Norman Cragun Dep. 5/5/70, p. 7). The father specifically testified that he could not recall any week when the decedent worked more than twelve hours a week in the first half of 1970. (*Id.* at p. 8). From the foregoing it seems clear to respondent that decedent was never an "active employee" entitled to coverage. And if he was not an "active employee," he was entitled to neither coverage nor conversion privileges under the Group Policy.

The group policy did contain a one year incontestability clause (R-47). However, respondent respectfully contends that that clause does not preclude respondent from raising the question of the decedent's status as an "active employ-

ee." Respondent contends that the decedent's application for conversion (R-44) and decedent's letter to respondent (R-43) re-represented, at least implicitly, that decedent was an active employee pursuant to the requirements of the group policy. This later representation constituted a renewed statement of insurability under the group policy and this later representation started a re-running of the incontestability period. Since the individual policy insuring decedent was rescinded within one year from its inception, the incontestability provision does not bar respondent's claim.

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